
222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Planning Agenda
Wednesday, 4 March 2020 at 6.00 pm
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.   
Please enter the building via the Tourist Information Centre entrance.

For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk

Page No.

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest

3.  Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th January 2020 1 - 8

4.  Notification of any additional urgent items

5.  Planning applications attracting a petition

(a)  Christ Church, 458 Old London Road (HS/FA/19/00889)
(M Botting, Development Control Officer)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_116910

9 - 24

6.  Other Planning Applications

(a)  Hastings Museum & Art Gallery, Bohemia Road (HS/FA/19/00926)
(G Fownes, Assistant Planning Officer)
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_116947

25 - 34

7.  Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions 35 - 36

Public Document Pack

http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116910
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116910
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116910
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116947
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116947
http://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_116947


This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 1

Present: Councillors Roberts (Chair), Cox (Vice-Chair), Beaver, Bishop, Davies, 
Marlow-Eastwood, O’Callaghan and Scott (from 6.06pm).

173. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies received from Councillor Edwards for absence and Councillor Scott for 
lateness.

174. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Item Interest
Beaver 5a Personal – Highways 

ESCC

175. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2019 be 
approved by the Chair as a true record.

176. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS 

None.

177. PLANNING APPLICATIONS ATTRACTING A PETITION 

177.1 64 London Road (HS/FA/19/00355) 

Proposal New single-storey building for a 
rehearsal space, office and WCs. 
Demolition of existing rear first floor 
extension and replace with a new first-
floor extension over the extent of the 
existing ground floor extension. Entrance 
lobby to be replaced and enlarged. 
Removal of conservatory-type extension 
to the side and large window reinstated. 
Internal works and reconfiguration of the 
original building, including the installation 
of a platform lift. New pedestrian covered 
bridge and footpath to link the new first-
floor extension with the proposed new 
single-storey building at the end of the 
garden and associated external works.

Application No HS/FA/19/00355
Conservation Area Yes - St. Leonards North Conservation 

Area
Listed Building No

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 2

Public Consultation Yes – 1 petition of objection, 6 letters of 
objection and 5 letters of support

Councillor Scott was not present for all of the Planning Services Manager’s report so 
did not take part in this item.

The Planning Services Manager presented the application for a new single-storey 
building for a rehearsal space, office and WCs. Demolition of existing rear first floor 
extension and replace with a new first-floor extension over the extent of the existing 
ground floor extension. Entrance lobby to be replaced and enlarged. Removal of first-
floor conservatory-type extension to the side and large window reinstated. Internal 
works and reconfiguration of the original building, including the installation of a 
platform lift. New pedestrian covered bridge and footpath to link the new first-floor 
extension with the proposed new single-storey building at the end of the garden and 
associated external works.

The Planning Services Manager informed the Committee that a further letter of 
objection and 3 additional letters of support had been received. All of the matters 
raised in the comments were addressed in the report.

Councillors were shown plans, photographs and elevations of the application site. 

The Planning Services Manager stated that the property was used by Mencap for 
adults with learning difficulties. The majority of the proposed development is located to 
the rear of the site and screened from the public realm. The changes that are visible 
are not significant enough to have a detrimental impact on the existing street scene. 
The rehearsal space is set lower than the properties to the rear. It is not physically 
attached to the rear boundary wall and there is an approximately 1 metre wide gap 
with paved access to allow for maintenance.

The petitioner Pamela Austin was present and spoke against the application. Mrs 
Austin said she was relieved that the revised plan will no longer attach the 
development onto her home but would still object for 3 reasons. The 1 metre gap 
between the two buildings will make maintenance impractical. Secondly, the planned 
activities will create frequent and unacceptable levels of noise. Finally, the close 
proximity of the development will pose a security and safety risk. The flat roof of the 
rear extension, being level with the rear boundary wall, gives burglars easy access. A 
large wooden clad building will be a fire risk and the flat roof will attract vandals. In the 
original application it was noted that the plans had been discussed with neighbours 
and the St Leonards Rotary Club, but this is not the case. Mrs Austin said she fully 
supports the valuable service Mencap provides, however she cannot understand why 
this building is placed so close to her home. In order to be worthwhile this building will 
need to be used extensively. Mrs Austin said she therefore objects to the application 
and requests that the building is moved further back, is extensively soundproofed and 
the audience space moved inside.

Councillors asked questions of the petitioner. 

The Planning Services Manager confirmed that the plan was amended to allow more 
space for maintenance of the rear boundary wall and that 1 metre would be adequate 

Page 2



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 3

for this. In order to access the wall the petitioner would require permission from 64 
London Road to go on their land. There is a condition that the doors remain shut when 
rehearsals are taking place and that the bridge isn’t used as part of the rehearsal 
space. The Planning Services Manager informed the Committee that the security and 
safety risks raised are not a material consideration against which the application can 
be determined. Environmental Health raised no objections.

The applicant’s representative, Pauline Fletcher was present and spoke in favour of 
the application. For 70 years Hastings and Bexhill Mencap Society has been 
supporting local people with learning disabilities, together with their families and 
carers. Ms Fletcher said that the organisation had considered moving but felt this was 
not a feasible option as the current property is in an enviable position with excellent 
public transport links. Mencap offers drama workshops to young people prior to them 
transitioning to adult services, but it has become apparent that service users cannot 
progress due to the limited accessibility of the current building. The visual and 
performing arts courses offer meaningful and rewarding support to the most 
vulnerable members of the community. For this reason there has been a focus on the 
arts whilst exploring the expansion of the current building. This development will meet 
the needs of service users long into the future and will help ensure the sustainability of 
the charity. Ms Fletcher said she respected Mrs Austin’s concerns but there is no 
intention to have the audience outside. It is hoped that by moving the development 
away from the Coach House and proving the 1 metre access path it has been 
demonstrated that Mrs Austin’s concerns have been taken into account.  

Councillors asked questions of the applicant. In response to questions Ms Fletcher 
confirmed that if the rear development was moved further away from the boundary 
wall a large part of usable garden would be lost. There are no current plans to extend 
the rehearsal space to evening use and whilst the main building is let out to local 
groups there are no plans to do so for the new building.

Councillors asked questions of the Planning Services Manager and debated the 
application.

Councillor Davies proposed a motion, seconded by Councillor Bishop, subject to the 
addition of conditions 12 and 13 and informative 6, to grant the application as set out 
in the resolution below.

RESOLVED – (by 5 for, to 2 against) that Full Planning Permission be granted 
subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

HBM037-01, HBM037-06A, HBM037-07B, HBM037-09, HBM037-10,
HBM037-11, HBM037-12A, HBM037-14, HBM037-15, HBM037-16,
HBM037-17A, HBM037-18A, HBM037-19, HBM037-20A, HBM037-21A,
HBM037-22A, HBM037-25 and M1184

Page 3



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 4

3. Prior to commencement of development full details of any required retaining 
structures required to facilitate the development are to be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details are to include a detailed plan 
and accompanying structural calculations carried out by a suitably qualified person. 
The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

4. Prior to commencement of development, including demolition, a Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) is to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The CMP shall be implemented and adhered to in full throughout 
the entire development. The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not be 
restricted to the following matters;

 The anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during the 
development,

 The parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
 The loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
 The storage locations of plant and materials used in the development,
 The location of skips and/or storage of waste on site prior to collection,
 The erection and maintenance of any necessary security hoarding,

The provision and utilisation of wheel washing facilities and other works required to 
mitigate the impact of development upon the public highway (including the provision of 
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders) if necessary.

5. Prior to commencement of development above ground, full details of the proposed 
materials to be used in the external surfaces of the development hereby approved are 
to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be carried out using the approved materials.

6. Prior to the commencement of development a Method Statement and phasing plan 
for the control and eradication of Japanese Knotweed shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. The Method Statement will include post-treatment monitoring of 
the site to ensure continuous 12 month period of where no Japanese Knotweed is 
identified growing on the whole site. In the event that any Japanese Knotweed is 
identified as growing during the 12 month monitoring period then treatment shall 
resume and continue until a 12 month period of no growth of Japanese Knotweed 
occurs. The agreed Method Statement shall thereafter be implemented.

7. Prior to commencement of development above ground a scheme of soft and hard 
landscaping is to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This shall include;

 Indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land including details of 
those to be retained,

 Measures for tree protection in the course of development.
 A planting arrangement plan

Page 4



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 5

 A landscaping implementation programme.
 An installation, maintenance and management plan for the sedum roof
 Details of the proposed hard landscaping materials

The applicant is advised that the landscaping proposals are to include planting of 
native fruit or nectar bearing plants and trees, to benefit foraging and refuge 
opportunities for wildlife including birds and invertebrates and where communal green 
space is provided, beds will include species chosen to benefit pollinators.
The landscaping scheme is then be implemented on site in accordance with the 
approved details.

8. Prior to completion of the development hereby approved details of the required bird 
boxes are to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
These boxes are to include a mix of the following: swift nest boxes, house sparrow 
terraces, and open fronted and close fronted (with a hole) boxes. These are to be 
erected onto the buildings at eaves level on north, north-east or north-west aspects. 
Swift boxes must be erected under the eaves of two-storey sections in pairs/groups. 
The remaining boxes should be erected at a height of between 1-2 metres. These 
boxes are to be installed on site in accordance with the approved details prior to 
completion of the development.

9. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out the 
development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within the following 
times:-

08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

10. The link bridge hereby approved is to at no point be used as an extension to the 
rehearsal space.

11. The proposed folding doors to be installed in the east elevation and the 
maintenance access door in the west of the rehearsal space are to remain shut during 
rehearsals. 

12. No amplified music shall be played within the rehearsal space at any time.

13. The rehearsal space hereby approved shall be used in the following times only:

Monday to Friday 9am to 5pm
At no time on the weekend or bank holidays.

Reasons:

1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 5



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 6

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. To ensure a satisfactory form of development.

4. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and in the interests of highway 
safety.

5. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and in the interest of the 
character and significance of the Conservation Area.

6. To control the spread of invasive plant species.

7. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the visual amenity 
of the area.

8. To ensure a satisfactory development and in the interests of Biodiversity and 
Ecological enhancement.

9. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

10. To ensure a satisfactory level of privacy be retained for adjoining residents.

11. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

12. In order to protect neighbouring residential amenity.

13. In order to protect neighbouring residential amenity.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 
enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive and 
proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

3. The applicant is advised that this notice of decision does not grant consent or imply 
any grant of consent for the applicant to enter onto any adjoining land, to either 
construct or subsequently to maintain the proposed development.

4. Your attention is drawn to the requirements of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

5. No part of the development is to overhang or encroach in to neighbouring land.

6. The applicant is advised that careful attention should be taken in the development 
of the site to ensure that there is no harm to the structural stability of adjacent 
properties.

Page 6



PLANNING

8 JANUARY 2020

PC. 7

178. PLANNING APPEALS AND DELEGATED DECISIONS 

The report was noted by the Committee. 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at 6.47pm)

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Christ Church
458 Old London Road
Hastings
TN35 5BG

Installation of 30 Solar panels on church roof

ORE

1

7

2

6

5

9

4

11

Christ Church

The
58

25

54

4a

10

19

46

13

12

18

49

14

35

El

30

Temple

LB

Hastings

Def

46
0

48
6

444
48

8
39

7

391

371

46
8

47
6

395

40
5

381

430

PO
PH

444a

Hall

PCs

Bank

Yew Tree

TCB

Shelter

117.2m

ED
 &

14 to 18

Arlington

Sub Sta

Wa
rd 

Bd
y

104.1m

Cottages

446
 to 

452

Sunbeam

Path (um)

War Meml

Em
ma C

otta
ge

Seve
nth

-Day Adve
ntis

t Chur
ch

Cottages

2

1

Path (um)

25

Shelter

LB

6

1

2

1

Shelter 6

4

1

1

104.1m

Pa
th (

um
)

OFFA ROAD

CA
NU

TE
 RO

AD

GRAYSTONE LANE

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2020]. OS [100021328]

Feb 2020

HS/FA/19/00889
1:1,250

±

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

OLD
 LO

NDON ROAD

Page 9

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (a)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 04 March 2020

Report from: Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application address: Christ Church, 458 Old London Road, Hastings,
TN35 5BG

Proposal: Installation of 30 Solar panels on church roof

Application No: HS/FA/19/00889

Recommendation: REFUSE

Ward: ORE 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: Grade II

Applicant: Christ Church PCC per R D P Chartered Architects
14 Cross Street St Leonards on Sea  East Sussex
TN37 6DP

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: Yes - Affects a Listed Building
People objecting: 0
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 50
Petitions of support received: 1
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated -
Petition received contrary to Planning Officer
recommendation

1. Site and surrounding area
The site comprises Christ Church Ore, a Grade II listed building, situated along Old London
Road, opposite the Junction of Saxon Road and adjacent to Winchester's Hardware Stores
and the unlisted Church hall.   This part of Old London Road is not within a conservation
area. 
The boundaries consist of a sandstone wall with railings on top, with the main gate leading to
the church entrance.  There is a small garden area to the side and rear, where the memorial
stands.  There is also a parking area to the rear.  There are clear views of the church from
Old London Road and Saxon Road.

Page 11



Constraints
Grade II Listed Building
SSSI Impact Risk Zone
Flooding surfacewater 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000

Listing Details
757/2/466 OLD LONDON ROAD 14-SEP-76 ORE (West side) CHRIST CHURCH

II Church. 1858 (dedication plaque on E wall) by A.D.Gough. Decorated style.

MATERIALS: Walls of random rubble construction in sandstone, N aisle on a brick plinth;
slate roofs with crested ridge tiles.

PLAN: 5-bay nave with lower-roofed chancel with small lean-to S vestry and N organ
chamber; N aisle, N transept (now a vestry); SW porch and SW bell turret.

EXTERIOR: All windows have flowing tracery, the nave and N aisle windows identical with
carved dripstone terminals. The nave has buttresses with crocketted gables. Tall gabled W
porch. 7-light W window with a Flamboyant traceried wheel in the head. Lean-to projections
off the chancel are gabled to N and S. N aisle buttressed with a W window roundel with star
tracery. The N transept has little flying buttresses, apparently original, to the retaining wall of
the churchyard. Shallow gabled porch with a double-chamfered doorway, an outer iron gate
with cross finials and a 2-leaf plank door with strap hinges. Distinctive octagonal SW bell
turret, the most striking element of the exterior. This has a frieze of trefoil-headed open
arcading below the stone spire.

2. Proposed development
Installation of 30. No p.v. panels to eastern slope of nave roof, facing and running parallel to
Old London Road. The section of roof slope measures approximately 20.7m in length and
5.7m, in height. The total cover of panels will result in 14.8m in length and 2.7m in height.
Installation of 4 No. cables from panels to the internal roof void via ‘Dektite’ fitting, to run with
existing cabling internally at eaves level to new Solis 8Kw converter. 

Specification of solar panels:

JAM606S02 – 265-285 1000V Cypress Series Monocrystalline silicon solar module
Dimensions: 1650mm x 991mm x 35mm
Weight 18.2kg

Specification of inverters:

Inverters 543mm x 310mm x 180mm (internally located)

Outstanding performance in low light irradiance environments (ability to store energy in low
levels of sunlight)

290W Anti reflection

Page 12



The application is supported by the following documents:
Heritage statement
Solar panel specification
Inverter specification

Relevant planning history

National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment
POLICY SC6: Renewable Energy Developments 

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering applications
Policy HN1 - Development Affecting the Significance and Setting of Designated Heritage

Assets (including Conservation Areas)
Policy HN2 - Changing Doors, Windows and Roofs in Conservation Areas
Policy HN4 - Development affecting Heritage Assets with Archaeological and Historic Interest

or Potential Interest
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity

Other policies/guidance
National Design Guide
SPD 1  Roof materials for listed buildings and conservation areas (energy efficiency)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and
states that development proposals which accord with the development plan should be
approved without delay.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to
the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."

Page 13



Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of:

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users

Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.

Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

154. When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon development,
local planning authorities should:
a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon
energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to
cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and
b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. Once suitable
areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been identified in plans, local planning
authorities should expect subsequent applications for commercial scale projects outside
these areas to demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in identifying
suitable areas.

Paragraph 190 states: "Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available
evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when considering
the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the
heritage asset's conservation and any aspect of the proposal."

Paragraph 192 states: "In determining applications, local planning authorities should take
account of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting

them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable

communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and

distinctiveness."
Page 14



Paragraph 193 states: When considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less
than substantial harm to its significance.

Paragraph 194 states: "Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should
require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites,

registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and
gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional."

Paragraph 196 states: "Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable
use."

Paragraph 200 states: "Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new
development within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those
elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal
its significance) should be treated favourably."

Paragraph 202 states: "Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a
proposal for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies but
which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the disbenefits of
departing from those policies."

National Planning Policy Guidance
Renewable and low carbon energy

Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 5-007-20140306

In shaping local criteria for inclusion in Local Plans and considering planning applications in
the meantime, it is important to be clear that:

the need for renewable or low carbon energy does not automatically override
environmental protections;

great care should be taken to ensure heritage assets are conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance, including the impact of proposals on views important to
their setting;

protecting local amenity is an important consideration which should be given proper
weight in planning decisions.

Page 15



3. Consultation comments
Conservation Officer - Objection
That planning permission should be refused for the following reasons :

The proposed solar panels, by reason of their prominent siting on the front roof slope, their
large unit size, general appearance, materials and finishes would introduce an alien feature
onto a highly visible roof slope of this listed building.  The proposals will harm the
significance of this designated heritage asset and no clear and convincing justification has
been provided for the harm that has been identified. The development fails to preserve the
significance of Christ Church, a Grade II listed building, and so is contrary to NPPF paras
189 – 202. 

The proposals fail to meet the requirements of adopted Local Plan Policies DM1, EN1 and
HN1 because the new solar panels will harm the significance of a heritage asset.  The
proposed development will also significantly harm local townscape views around this part of
Ore village centre, as the church roof is highly visible from the main road, and the streets that
meet at the adjacent road junctions.  The development fails to make a positive contribution to
the quality, character, local distinctiveness and sense of place of the historic building and
wider area.  The proposed development will not protect and enhance local character and will
have an adverse visual impact on the street scene, which is contrary to Policy DM1.

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed and an advert placed in the local
paper.

51 representations have been received, of which are:
1 petition of support
50 Support letters (15 of which are duplicated standard letters)

Main support comments include:

Overall support for the church and struggling community. 

Wholly support renewable energy and the urgency of climate change outweighs the impact
upon listed building.

The solar panels will help address local poverty issues
Hastings Borough Council have declared a Climate emergency and should support the
application.

Diocese on Chichester support the application subject to certain matters being clarified. A
structural report of the roof and position of the panels needs further consideration.  The
diocese committee, although supportive would require this information before approval is
given.
Listed building consent is not determined by the Local Planning Authority as the church have
applied for faculty.  The panels would have a minimal impact on the historic fabric of the
building and the works would be fully reversible.Page 16



Environmental and social benefits outweigh the visual impact
The scheme will inspire other businesses to invest in renewable energy
Benefit to local community and the church
The solar panels will reduce costs to the church and help the environment.

Disappointed that the council do not support the solar panels after announcing we are in
climate emergency and should be supporting this scheme and encouraging solar panels
everywhere in an urban environment.
Reduce the reliance on fossil fuels.  The supports applaud the church moving forward.
The income produced will allow the church to help struggling members of the local area.

5. Determining issues
The main issues to consider are the impact on the character and appearance of a heritage
asset and the overbearing dominance within the streetscene.

a) Background
National planning policy does not give greater weight to either heritage or energy
development/conservation. They are both important and play significant roles in meeting the
overall objectives for sustainable development. The NPPF therefore provides a framework
for assessing heritage significance and weighing the degree of harm to it against the public
benefit of reducing energy consumption. Every effort should be made to minimise harm or
conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation, and any aspect of the proposal.

It is therefore the Planning Officers’ role to have regard to national and local planning policy,
when considering any planning applications put before them. This means balancing the
effect of any proposal for energy generation or energy efficiency measures against the
potential harm caused to the historic environment. Specifically, the Planning Officer will
assess whether the scale, type and location of any proposals to incorporate renewable
energy are appropriate to the heritage significance of the building in question, and the
surrounding area. In doing so, regard will also be had to the benefits arising from the
proposal, the degree to which energy saving measures have already been considered and
incorporated into the building in question, whether alternative suitable locations for the solar
panels is available and where relevant, and whether the proposed renewable energy benefits
the site at which it is located or the energy created is proposed to be provided off site.

Hastings Borough Council is committed to doing all it can to help tackle climate change,
which includes the positive consideration of planning applications for the installation of
renewable energy techniques. However, planning recommendations and decisions have to
balance these benefits with other policy considerations such as the impact on the
environment and designated heritage assets. In designated areas, proposals for renewable
energy development will need to fully consider the location and prominence of the potential
scheme, and assess whether there will be any resulting negative impact on areas or building
of heritage significance.

b) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with Policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable
in principle subject to other local plan policies.

Page 17



c) Impact on character and appearance of area

Policy DM1 – Design Principles

All proposals must reach a good standard of design, which includes efficient use of
resources, and takes into account:

a. protecting and enhancing local character;

b. showing an appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street
patterns, plot layouts and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and
materials;

c. good performance against nationally recognised best practice guidance on
sustainability, urban design and place-making, architectural quality and
distinctiveness;

d. the layout and siting of buildings to make efficient use of land, the orientation of
frontages to achieve attractive streetscapes and to best take into account the effects
of solar gain;

e. an assessment of visual impact, including the height, scale, and form of development
that should be appropriate to the location, especially given the complex topography of
the Borough and the need, in some instances, to consider the visual effect from key
viewpoints. This is particularly important when there are potential impacts upon areas
of heritage and/or landscape value

The Council acknowledges the challenges faced in terms of climate change, and it is
important to help home and business owners to understand how any proposed works for
energy efficiency or energy generation will impact on the character and appearance of the
building, if listed, as well as wider conservation areas. Energy efficiency works need to
maximise their impact and savings – as well as ensuring they do not detract from what is
special about the area as a whole.  Whilst this part of Old London Road and Ore is not within
a conservation area, the Church is a Grade II listed Building and makes a significant and
positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area. The building is highly
visible and a prominent landmark building.  Any external changes to a heritage asset are
considered in terms of impact upon the character of the area.

The Council welcomes the proposal to provide renewable energy at Christ Church, although
raises concern regarding the prominence of the 30 panels proposed on the front eastern roof
slope.  The solar panels would extend the majority of the length of the roof and extend from
the eaves to the ridge of the church. The church is a listed Building and this has significant
weight when determining the application.  The Church has applied for faculty from the
Diocese of Chichester, this allows the Church to grant faculty without the need for a listed
Building Consent.  The panels would extend over 70% of the roof length, they would project
above the roof line by 70mm and although black, would not match the colour or the roof. The
solar panels would not have a matt surface. They would therefore be very clearly visible
against the backdrop of the roof and the difference between the roof and the solar panels
would be such that they would appear as an incongruous and harmful feature on the roof
and the building as a whole. The solar panels are proposed to be placed on the roof slope
facing the road. The building itself is located very close to the road and opposite /close to a
number of junctions. As such the church and its roof are currently prominent and positive
features in the locality. This building represents the only significantly positive contributor to

Page 18



the architecture and character and appearance of the immediate area. Therefore to carry out
development that would harmfully affect its positive contribution to the area is not considered
acceptable. The degree to which this harmful feature impacts the character and appearance
of the area is increased by the proximity to the road and the orientation of the building to Old
London Road.

This section of the roof slope measures approximately 20.7m in length and 5.7, in height.
The total cover of panels will result in 14.8m in length and 2.7m in height. The panels will sit
on brackets that will be attached to the roof and will project approximately 70mm above the
roof slope.  Although the panels proposed are black, which to a certain degree reduces the
visual impact for an above roof system, they will still have a shinier finish than the
surrounding matt roof tiles and would without doubt have a modern and incongruous
intervention to the roof slope.  In reaching a decision, the harm identified should be weighed
against public benefits.  Energise Sussex are supplying, installing and maintaining the panels
at no cost to the church under a 25 year license.  Part of that agreement is to supply
electricity to the church at a reduced rate (8p per kWh) and reviewed annually.  After this
time, the panels become the sole property of the church.  There is undoubtedly a benefit to
the church and community and the proposal will contribute to climate change mitigations.
Solar panels on heritage assets should only be approved where the harm to the significance
of the asset can be avoided or mitigated.  However, whilst the proposal will make a small
contribution to the effects of climate change, it is considered that it does not outweigh the
harm to the listed building.

It is important to note that the Council is not objecting to the principle of the solar panels on
this building.  Placing them on the inner slopes is likely to be considered an acceptable way
forward, causing less harm to the significance and setting of the Listed Building, although this
option was not taken forward by the applicant.  In addition, the adjacent church hall, to which
we also had an application for 26 panels, would be supported if the first four panels were
removed from the front of the church hall. The siting of the building means that these are
only partially visible from the streetscene, and as such, there will be limited harm caused to
the character and appearance of the area, or the significance and setting of the listed
building.  However, that option was later dismissed as the Church hall roof was no longer a
viable option due to the lack of light as a result of the shade from the Church.  The council
are currently awaiting a withdrawal letter to confirm this.

Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning
decisions should ensure that developments:

(a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but
over the lifetime of the development;

(b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and
effective landscaping;

(c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment
and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change
(such as increased densities);

(d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces,
building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live,
work and visit;

Page 19



None of the above points are achieved. The NPPF goes on to state in paragraph 130 that
permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it
functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in plans or
supplementary planning documents.

As such, the application is considered unacceptable and contrary to national policy.

It is therefore considered that the scale of development proposed, together with their siting
on this front roof slope therefore gives rise to a negative impact on the character and
appearance of the area, resulting in less than substantial harm to the Heritage Asset,
contrary to paragraphs 7, 193 and 196 of the NPPF, Points a,d and e of Policy DM1, HN1 of
the Hastings Development Management Plan 2015 and EN1 of the Hastings Planning
Strategy 2014.

d) Heritage

POLICY SC6: Renewable Energy Developments

Proposals for renewable energy developments, including any ancillary infrastructure or
building will be supported unless:

a. their scale, form, design, material and cumulative impacts is unacceptable to the local
landscape or built environment; and

b. they would adversely impact on the local community, economy, biodiversity or historic
interests 

c. the scale and impact of developments in nationally recognised designations, such as
the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, Scheduled Monuments, Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings or Registered
Parks and Gardens, is not compatible with the purpose of their designation

The Council will investigate the town’s potential for accommodating renewable and low
carbon energy sources and supporting infrastructure. Suitable sites will be identified through
the Development Management Plan.

Whilst the council cannot determine the listed building consent, we can raise concerns
regarding the impact upon the heritage asset.  Policy SC6 recognises the need for change
and promotes and encourages renewable energy where appropriate. Having regard to the
points above, the proposal is contrary to Policy SC6.

Furthermore, SPD1 Roof materials for listed buildings and conservation areas (energy
efficiency) states:

Solar energy
5.5 If your proposal affects a listed building, you will need Listed Building Consent to install
solar energy collectors (e.g. solar panels). Listed Building Consent will only be granted were
the council is satisfied that the solar energy collectors would not adversely affect the
character of the listed building. (in this case, Listed Building Consent is dealt with by the
Diocese of Chichester and not the Local Planning Authority)
The roof is nearly always a dominant feature of a building and the retention of its original
structure, shape, pitch, cladding and ornament is important.

Page 20



It is very important to check that the roof is structurally sound and capable of supporting the
replacement covering, especially when it is proposed to change to a heavier loading. A
change of materials like this will require Building Regulations Approval and, therefore, you
are advised to contact the Borough Council’s Building Control Officers who will be pleased to
assist.
5.2 In conjunction with roofing repairs you should consider, where appropriate, the repair of
chimney stacks, pots, parapet walls, gutters, valleys, flashings and other leadwork, rainwater
goods and fascias, soffits and eaves. Alterations to these items may also require planning
permission or listed building consent.

Whilst the Council are not assessing the listed building consent, the roof of this Heritage
Asset is paramount to the streetscene and character of the area, and due to the prominent
position of the church, the roof is the main feature and the addition of solar panels is
considered to cause adverse harm to the character of the Heritage Asset and character of
the area.

e) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities

Policy DM3 – General Amenity

In order to achieve a good living standard for future users of proposed development and its
neighbours it should be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate
solutions have been incorporated into schemes. Permission will be given for development
where:

h. it can be adequately demonstrated that there is no safety risk to the public, and that
development is appropriately protected from any existing facilities that may affect
amenity; for example busy roads, waste water treatment works etc;

The position of the Church is not directly opposite houses, and as such the panels will not
result in loss of privacy, light, overlooking or outlook to the neighbouring properties.
However, the main concern is regarding the safety risk to the public using the highway, which
is explained below.

f) Highway safety
The Council acknowledges that the proposed solar panels incorporate an anti-reflective
coating over the glass, which will help reduce light reflection and glare. However, the single
storey nature of the building, site levels and sloping nature of the roads opposite, known as
Fairlight Road and Saxon Road, will mean that the panels will generally align with the traffic
driving down and in clear vision of those further up the road.

Solar panels are designed to absorb as much light as possible, however the nature of glass
is such that when the sun is angled (i.e. not straight on) to the surface a certain amount of
light is reflected.  Solar pane glass is not a smooth surface and so this reflected light should
be diffused, and under normal circumstances glint and glare is not an issue.  However, in this
case, Fairlight Road rises above the gutter line of the church roof.  The pitch of the Church
roof being at 52 degrees (from measurements taken from submitted drawings) and faced at
100 degrees, when the sun is at its pinnacle at midday, the potential reflection would be
angled directly towards Fairlight Road. A glint and Glare assessment from Fairlight Road
would certainly be helpful in this case as any reflection into driver’s eyes coming down
Fairlight Road would be potentially dangerous.  It is noted that Saxon Road also rises abovePage 21



the gutter line, however, the angle of the Church to Saxon Road means that potential glare
would occur first thing in the morning and the sun should be too low in the sky for this to be a
concern.

The agent has submitted an email arguing the need for a report due to the specification
stating that the panels are anti-reflective, and whilst this is acknowledged in the section
above, it is felt that due to the prominent position of the panels, the glint and glare report is
still required to address any concerns raised.

The Highways Authority have been consulted regarding the matter and guided the local
planning authority to the Online Minor Application Guidance 2017.  However, after requesting
further comments, the Highways Officer recommended a condition to ensure the solar panels
include the anti-glare before being placed.   This would be inline with the Council's condition
for a glint and glare report.

g) Roof supports

A roof stability assessment has been requested but to date has not been provided by the
applicant.  This is to check that the roof of the listed structure is able to take the substantial
weight of the solar panels. The scheme also proposes solar limpets as a form of fixing the
panels to the roof and subject the structural stability of the roof, these are considered to be
acceptable.

It is our understanding that solar rails need supporting normally every 1200mm and in normal
roof constructions this is not an issue as the rafters are between 300 and 600mm apart. The
agent has provided information stating that slates are supported externally and are of
’standard’ size and are therefore supported on traditional timber battens. The email states
that the battens cannot span any more than 600mm, and it is this constraint that determines
the spacing of rafters. They support the battens, and therefore the slates, and so the rafters
are set out at 600mm centres; sometimes at 400mm centres. Traditionally, the interior of the
roof of the nave (from the latin ‘navis’ meaning ship) was kept open to its apex to present a
lofty and grand appearance. The variety of timbers forming the construction were not wished
to be ‘on show’ (slates, possibly felt sarking, battens and rafters) so a lining of timber
boarding would be installed to give a clean and neat interior finish.  Due to the size and
weight of the roof, the span, and therefore the size of rafters is broken down by the use of
purlins, and further, the span of the purlins themselves is broken down by the use of
intermediate trusses. Whilst this information addresses our concerns on the rafters, we are
unable to confirm the structure is suitable to support the proposal without a fixing plan and
structural report on the building.  We understand that structural reports are a cost that the
Church wouldn't normally expend prior to planning permission, but a fixing plan is something
a solar installer should be able to provide and will prove the system can be mounted safely
and with due consideration to the underlying structure. 

h) Environmental Impact Assessment
This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

6. Conclusion
The proposal fails to comply with Policies DM1, EN1 and HN1 notwithstanding Section 12 of
the NPPF and will result in harm to the significance and setting of the listed building,
therefore permission should be refused.

Page 22



The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Refuse for the following reasons:

1. The proposed solar panels, by reason of their prominent siting on the front
roof slope, their large unit size, general appearance, materials and finishes
would introduce an alien feature onto a highly visible roof slope of this listed
building.  The proposals will harm the significance of this designated
heritage asset and no clear and convincing justification has been provided
for the harm that has been identified. The development fails to preserve the
significance of Christ Church, a Grade II listed building, and so is contrary to
NPPF paras 189 – 202. 

2. The proposals fail to meet the requirements of adopted Local Plan Policies
DM1, EN1 and HN1 because the new solar panels will harm the significance
of a heritage asset.  The proposed development will also significantly harm
local townscape views around this part of Ore village centre, as the church
roof is highly visible from the main road, and the streets that meet at the
adjacent road junctions.  The development fails to make a positive
contribution to the quality, character, local distinctiveness and sense of place
of the historic building and wider area.  The proposed development will not
protect and enhance local character and will have an adverse visual impact
on the street scene, which is contrary to Policy DM1 of the Development
Management Plan 2015 and paragraphs 127 and 130 of the National
Planning Policy Framework .          

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs M Botting, Telephone 01424 783252

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/19/00889 including all letters and documents

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Hastings Museum and Art Gallery
Bohemia Road
Hastings
TN34 1ET

To install three new sections of high-security fencing and gates at the north, 
south and east boundaries of the site to permit emergency access and 
maintenance (amended description)

White Rock Gardens

1

8

5

6

2

4

Centre
Sports

Art Gallery

11

15

34

36

14

42

12

39

31
40

36.9m

Wood

1 to 41

FW

The Hermitage

Tower

CR

PC

Und

Path

Clock

Shelter
Play Area

Museum

Car Park

El Sub Sta

ED & Ward Bdy

Meteorological Station

46.
1m

2

1

11

CR

8

5

PC

Shelter

BOHEMIA ROAD

EL
LIS

CLOSE

OL
IVE

R C
LO

SE

REDMAYNE DRIVE

Brisco's Walk

BOHEMIA ROAD

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2020]. OS [100021328]

Feb 2020

HS/FA/19/00926
1:1,250

±

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 8 16 24 32
Meters

Page 25

Agenda Item 6a



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 6 (a)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 04 March 2020

Report from: Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application address: Hastings Museum and Art Gallery, Bohemia
Road, Hastings, TN34 1ET

Proposal: To install three new sections of high-security
fencing and gates at the north, south and east
boundaries of the site to permit emergency
access and maintenance (amended
description).

Application No: HS/FA/19/00926

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward: CASTLE 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Hastings Borough Council Muriel Matters House,
Breeds Place,  Hastings, TN34 3UY

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: No
People objecting: 1
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 0
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated -
Council application on Council owned land

1. Site and surrounding area
This application refers to the grounds of Hastings Museum and Art Gallery, a two storey
detached building located on Johns Place accessed from Bohemia Road.  There are a
number of residential dwellings located to the East of the application site, Bohemia Road
located to the South, Summerfields Leisure centre located to the North West and
Summerfields woods located to the North.Page 27



Constraints
Archaeological Notification Area
Risk of surface water flooding
Land Owned Leased Licensed or held by Tenancy at Will by HBC
Low pressure pipeline (SGN)

2. Proposed development
This application is seeking planning permission to install new high-security fencing and gates
at the North, South and East boundaries of the premises.  The new fencing and gates allow
access, including emergency access, and will allow the continued maintenance of the
premises.

The North side elevation fence and gate will be 3.00 metres in height, the South side
elevation fence and gate will 2.10 metres in height, and the East rear elevation fence and
gate will be 2.40 metres in height.  It is noted the East rear elevation fence and gate will not
extend behind the rear elevation of the double garage immediately adjacent to the eastern
boundary of the site.

Supporting documents
The application is supported by the following documents:

Design and access statement
Site waste management plan

Relevant planning history
HS/FA/16/00883 Installation of a pivoting gate across the entrance to St John's Place

Granted 21/12/16
HS/FA/05/00596 Extension to provide disabled access, new display and service area

Granted 16/09/05
HS/FA/03/00986 Extension to provide disabled access, new display and service areas

Granted 05/03/04
HS/OA/98/00092 Erection of two storey extension to include lift, storage, galleries, lecture

room and offices
Granted 09/04/98

HS/FA/95/00013 Provision of disabled ramped access to side of building and railing to front
Granted 09/03/95

HS/FA/87/00534 Construction of a fire escape stairs from durbar hall
Granted 03/08/87

HS/FA/87/00203 Erection of single storey extension for use as store
Granted 25/05/87

73/01288 Erection of new toilets and office
Granted 27/10/73

National and local policies

Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy FA2 - Strategic Policy for Central Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment

Page 28



Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy HN4 - Development affecting Heritage Assets with Archaeological and Historic Interest
or Potential Interest

Other policies/guidance

National Design Guide
Paragraph 3 of the National Design Guide states, The National Planning Policy Framework
makes clear that creating high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. This design guide, the National Design
Guide, illustrates how well-designed places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can
be achieved in practice. It forms part of the Government’s collection of planning practice
guidance and should be read alongside the separate planning practice guidance on design
process and tools (Section 12 and paragraph 124 of the NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and
states that development proposals which accord with the development plan should be
approved without delay.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 8 are to be sought jointly:
economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and
at the right time to support growth and innovation); social (providing housing, creating high
quality environment with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to,
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst paragraph 9 advises
that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so they respond to
the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas.

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out the requirement for good design in development. Paragraph
124 states: "The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities."

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of:

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
Create safe places with a high standard of amenity for future and existing users

Page 29



Paragraph 130 states permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails
to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way that it functions.

Paragraph 130 also seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is not
materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the permitted
scheme.

3. Consultation comments
Consultations with statutory consultees was not necessary, due to the minor nature of this
proposal.

4. Representations
In respect of this application site notices were displayed at the entrance to the Museum and
the passage between Johns Place and Ellis Close.  1 response was received from 1 property
objecting to the application and raising the following concerns:

Potential harmful impact on amenity of neighbouring property, arising from 3.00 metre
height of fence
Impact on access to rear of garages for maintenance

5. Determining issues
The main issues to consider are the impact on the character and appearance of the area,
and the impact on neighbouring residential amenities.

a) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with Policy
LP1 Hastings Local Plan - Development Management (2015) in this respect and acceptable
in principle subject to other local plan policies.

b) Impact on character and appearance of the area
Policy DM1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015), states, that
all proposals must reach a good standard of design, which includes efficient use of
resources, and takes into account: (a) protecting and enhancing local character; (b) showing
an appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot
layouts and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials; (c) good
performance against nationally recognised best practice guidance on sustainability, urban
design and place-making, architectural quality and distinctiveness (e) an assessment of
visual impact, including the height, scale, and form of development that should be
appropriate to the location, especially given the complex topography of the Borough and the
need, in some instances, to consider the visual effect from key viewpoints.

The proposed is not considered to positively enhance the character or appearance of the
area, however, the highest of the fencing/gates, at 3.0 metres, is located to the side (North)
of the building and is not highly visible from the public realm.  The 2.4 metre high fence/gate
to the rear (East) is located behind an existing single storey extension to the museum and a
boundary wall, which provides screening from Johns Place, and as viewed from Ellis Close,
the 2.4 metre high fence/gate will be behind an enclosed garden area and screened by a
double garage and vegetation, limiting any views.  Finally the most visible part of the
proposed, to the South, will be 2.1 metres in height and this will be visible from Johns Place.
Whilst not the best possible solution for screening, in design terms, there is no significant
harm to the character or appearance of the area, and the benefits arising, in terms of
increasing security, outweigh any harm.

Page 30



The proposed works are therefore considered acceptable in this respect and are in
agreement with Policy DM1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan
(2015).

c) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan (2015), states, in
order to achieve a good living standard for future users of proposed development and its
neighbours it should be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate
solutions have been incorporated into schemes.

As stated in the ‘Design and Access statement’, the new fencing will not affect the existing
public access routes around the museum, and the proposed is considered sufficiently
distanced from any neighbouring residential dwellings to have not have any impact, with the
exception of No 12 Ellis Close, which is located to the West of the application site.  The
North side elevation fence is to measure a total of 3.00 metres in height, however, this will be
no higher than the closed boarded timber fence which currently serves as boundary
treatment to No 12, and as such it is not considered to have a negative impact.  The other
fencing and gates are not adjacent to any residential properties.  Therefore it is not
considered the proposed, by means of its scale and siting will have any negative impact on
the neighbouring properties in terms of overshadowing, loss of daylight, privacy or outlook. 

The proposed works are therefore considered acceptable in this respect and are in
agreement with Policy DM3 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan
(2015).

d) Constraints – Risk of surface water flooding
Whilst the proposed works will require excavation or ground works, the extent of this is
considered to be minimal as it is only to provide concrete footings for the fence posts, and as
such the impact in terms of surface water flooding is considered to be minimal.  No further
action is therefore required in this respect.

e) Constraints - Archaeological notification area
Whilst the proposed works will require excavation or ground works, the extent of this is
considered to be minimal as it is only to provide concrete footings for the fence posts and as
such the impact with regards to the Archaeological notification area is considered to be
minimal.  No further action is therefore required in this respect.

6. Conclusion
The proposed works are considered appropriate for this location, and whilst not considered
to positively enhance the character or appearance of the area, they do not cause an
unacceptable level of harm. Residential amenities will remain unharmed.

The proposed works are considered appropriate for this location and would not cause harm
to the character or appearance of the area and would not harm residential amenities.

These proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to
be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

Page 31



7. Recommendation

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:

BT/M2/4/1, BT/M2/4/2, BT/M2/4/3A, BT/M2/4/4A, BT/M2/4/5A and
BT/M2/4/6

3. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:-

08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

4. The materials to be used must be galvanised steel fence posts and gates
with galvanised steel wire mesh panels.  All posts, gates and mesh are to be
polyester powder-coated, colour: green.

Reasons:

1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

4. To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the amenities of
the area.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 32



3. The development subject to this application falls within a highlighted
proximity of a mains gas pipe which is considered a major hazard.
The applicant/ agent/ developer is strongly advised to contact the pipeline
operator PRIOR to ANY works being undertaken pursuant to the permission
granted/ confirmed by this notice.
Address is:
Southern Gas Networks Plc 
SGN Plant Location Team
95 Kilbirnie Street
Glasgow
G5 8JD
Tel: 01414 184093 OR 0845 0703497
Search online at:
www.linesearchbeforeyoudig.co.uk 
SGN personnel will contact you accordingly.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mr G Fownes, Telephone 01424 783250

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/19/00926 including all letters and documents

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item: 

Report to: Planning Committee

Date: 4 March 2020

Report from: Planning Services Manager

Title of report: PLANNING APPEALS & DELEGATED DECISIONS

Purpose of report: To inform the Planning Committee of any planning appeals that 
have been lodged,  of any decisions received from the Planning 
Inspectorate and the number of delegated decisions made 
between  20/12/2019 to 21/02/2020

Recommendations: That the report be noted

The following appeals have been received:

Address/
Application

Number

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision was 

made

Type of 
Appeal

 20 Winchelsea 
Lane, Hastings
HS/FA/18/01112  

Retrospective 
application to 
extend existing 
apron to front 
(north-west) 
and side (north-
east) of building 
with timber 
decking, steps 
and ramp down 
to garden. 
Erection of 
fence to north 
east side 
boundary  

Refuse planning 
permission

Delegated Planning

Flat 9, Moreton 
Court, 40-41 
Eversfield Place, 
St Leonards-on-
sea
HS/EX/19/00002

Application for 
a certificate of 
lawful 
development 
for existing use 
as roof terrace

Refuse planning 
permission

Delegated Planning

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



The following appeals have been allowed:

Nothing to report

The following appeals have been dismissed:

Nothing to report

Type of Delegated Decision Number of Decisions
Granted Permission 63
Part Granted 2
Part Granted- Part Refused 1
Prior Approval Approved 1
Self Certificate - Permitted 1
Permitted Development - Approve 3
Raise No Objection 2
Refused 14
Total 87

Background Papers:
Various correspondences with Planning Inspectorate

Report written by
Gillian Griffin – Tel: (01424) 783264
Email: planning@hastings.gov.uk

Page 36


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th January 2020
	Minutes

	5a Christ Church, 458 Old London Road (HS/FA/19/00889)
	HS-FA-19-00889 Christ Church, 458 Old London Road

	6a Hastings Museum & Art Gallery, Bohemia Road (HS/FA/19/00926)
	HS-FA-19-00926 Hastings Museum & Art Gallery, Bohemia Road

	7 Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions

